Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 1 of 32

FILED 09-21-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV Case No. 2022AP000540-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY L. CUNDY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Judgment of Conviction entered in Dodge County Circuit Court, the Hon. Martin J. De Vries, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

THOMAS B. AQUINO Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066516

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1971 aquinot@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

A police officer investigating a hit-and-run causing minor damage to a car bumper told a witness that he would be bringing the registered owner of the car to the witness for the witness to identify. While the defendant and the officer were speaking at the threshold of the defendant's home, the defendant asked "Are we done here?" The officer responded "No, we're not," asked several more questions, and then told the defendant "I'm gonna need you to step out here for me." The officer then transported, via his squad car, the defendant to the witness, who identified the defendant as the driver of the vehicle. The officer then transported the defendant back to the house, and ordered him to answer additional questions before formally arresting the defendant and reading him his *Miranda*¹ rights.

- 1. Did the officer arrest the defendant at his home without a warrant, in violation of the defendant's Fourth Amendment rights?
- 2. Was the officer's questioning of the defendant a custodial interrogation that first required *Miranda* warnings?
- 3. Was the defendant identified in a suggestive procedure violating the defendant's due process rights?

The circuit court denied a suppression motion raising these issues.

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant would welcome oral argument to address any factual or legal issues raised by the parties. The court's opinion is unlikely to warrant publication, as the appeal involves application of facts to well-established legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At about 9:35 p.m. on the night of July 2, 2019, Lon Williams reported to the police that he had seen a hit-and-run accident approximately 10-15 minutes earlier. (R. 49:11-13, 48). City of Mayville Police Officer Michael Wheeler was dispatched to the location of the alleged hit and run, a restaurant, and spoke with Williams. (R. 49:11-13). Williams claimed that he saw a car, while backing up to park at "idle speed," strike a parked car and then drive away. (R. 49:16, 21-23; R. 42 at 1:38).²

Williams had previously given the license plate number of the vehicle to dispatch. (R. 49:23). Officer Wheeler ran a license plate check, and determined that it belonged to a black Ford Fusion that was registered to Cundy. (R. 49:24). Officer Wheeler told Williams that he knew Cundy and that Cundy was probably drunk. (R. 49:61).

² Record number 42 is a data CD containing a video from Officer Wheeler's squad car that was played during the suppression hearing and entered into evidence as Exhibit 1. The file is called "Stream 0.mp4," and citations to the video are to the time elapsed in the video, as the time of day is not indicated on the video itself.

7

Cundy lived close by, so Officer Wheeler drove to his residence. (R. 49:26). On his way, Officer Wheeler had the following exchange with Williams through the open squad car window:

Wheeler: Did you get a good enough

look at him that if I had to bring him back here you can say "Yeah that was

him"?

Williams: Yeah.

Wheeler: Wonderful.

(R. 42 at 20:15-21; R. 49:38).

Officer Wheeler knocked on Cundy's door at approximately 10:02 p.m. (R. 42 at 23:47; R. 49:29).³ The audio of the subsequent interactions were captured by Officer Wheeler's squad cam.

Cundy's partner Tricia Mueller answered the door. (R. 42 at 25:25; R. 49:31). Officer Wheeler asked how long Cundy had been home, and Mueller responded "a while." (R. 42 at 25:57). When Officer Wheeler asked if that had been about a half-hour, Trish responded "No, longer than that." (R. 42 at 26:02). Cundy then came to the door, and maintained that he had been home for longer than a half-hour, and that half an hour earlier he had been asleep in his chair. (R. 42 at 26:42). According to Officer Wheeler, Cundy appeared "groggy." (R. 49:51).

After several minutes of Cundy continuing to deny that he had been driving at the time of the

 $^{^3}$ About 24 minutes elapsed in the squad car video (R. 42 at 23:47) when Officer Wheeler knocks on Cundy's door, meaning that the video starts at approximately 9:36 p.m.

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 9 of 32

alleged hit-and-run, Cundy asked "Are we done here?" Officer Wheeler responded "no, we're not." (R. 42 at 27:38). The complete exchange, culminating in Officer Wheeler directing Cundy to leave his house so that Officer Wheeler could transport him to the scene to be identified by Williams, is below.

Cundy: Are we done here?

Wheeler: No, we're not.

Cundy: What's up?

Wheeler: Okay. An incident

happened down there. Alright I'm trying to get your side of the story so I don't think you're just some person that would cause a disturbance and flee a scene. So I'm giving you the opportunity to tell me what

happened.

Cundy: What disturbance?

Wheeler: Okay. You tell me. Cause

you say you were sitting here but I've got somebody that puts you down there

about a half hour ago.

Cundy: No, sir.

Wheeler: Okay not at all. Were you

driving in your vehicle at all during the last hour?

Cundy: No.

Wheeler: Okay. How much have you

had to drink tonight?

Cundy: Quite a few.

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 10 of 32

Wheeler: Quite a few? Okay. So if I

take you down by the witness, they're going to tell me nope that wasn't him?

Cundy: What's going on?

Wheeler: Okay, I'm gonna need you

to step out here for me.

(R. 42 at 27:38-28:33).

Cundy complied and stepped out of his house. (R. 49:36-37). Officer Wheeler then took Cundy to his squad car and placed him in the back seat. *Id*. Officer Wheeler did not handcuff Cundy, though he may have patted him down. (R. 49:40). Officer Wheeler did not tell Cundy that he was not under arrest. (R. 49:40). Officer Wheeler then drove back to where he last saw Williams. (R. 49:37).

Officer Wheeler called Williams, asked him if he was still in the area, and then said "do you want to swing out here, and I've got the gentleman who I believe might be involved here if you can tell me if this is who you've seen?" (R. 42 at 32:52-33:05). A couple of minutes later, Williams showed up, and Officer Wheeler walked him to his squad car. (R. 42 at 35:10). Williams then identified him as the person he saw earlier. (R. 49:38).

Officer Wheeler subsequently drove Cundy back to his residence to further interview him for a possible OWI. (R. 49:40-41). After parking, Officer Wheeler said "let me get back out here and ask him some more questions" although it is not clear who he is addressing. (R. 42 at 37:30). Officer Wheeler and Cundy exit the squad car, and Officer Wheeler says "step out here and we'll go back over to the other side

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 11 of 32

over here and we'll chat a little more about this." (R. 42 at 37:40).

Officer Wheeler did most of the questioning, although another officer on the scene asked a few questions as well. Cundy admitted to the other officer of being at the Sidelines bar earlier in the day. (R. 42) at 39:45). And when asked about scuff marks on his car, Cundy pointed out that it was a 2012 model. (R. 49:45; R. 42 at 40:27). Multiple times Cundy responded to Officer Wheeler's questions about Cundy's drinking with his own question, "where are we going with this?" (R. 42 at 40:14, 40:55). Officer Wheeler at one point says that he is investigating a hit-and-run, which he asserts is a "crime." (R. 42 at 41:23). Officer Wheeler then asked several times whether Cundy would perform field sobriety tests, to which Cundy repeatedly responded "there's no reason." (R. 42 at 42:19-33). Officer Wheeler eventually placed Cundy in handcuffs, and read him his Miranda rights. (R. 49:46).

Officer Wheeler later applied for and obtained a warrant for a medical professional to draw Cundy's blood and test it for its alcohol content. (R. 196:3-14). In both the written application and his testimony to the warrant judge, Officer Wheeler referred to Cundy's statements and Williams's identification of Cundy. (*Id.*)

On July 3, 2019, the Dodge County District Attorney's office filed a criminal complaint charging Cundy with Operating While Intoxicated, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (R. 3). The State later filed an amended information charging Cundy with (1) OWI, (2) operating with a prohibited blood alcohol content,

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 12 of 32

Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), and (3) obstruction, Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). (R. 29).

Cundy filed a motion to suppress, asserting three grounds: that he was illegally arrested without a warrant at his home; the state obtained statements in violation of *Miranda*; and the showup identification violated his due process rights. (R. 33). Cundy sought to suppress all evidence derived from the violation of his rights, including the blood draw affidavit. (R. 33; R. 49:101-102).

After a hearing, the court concluded that Officer Wheeler's actions did not violate Cundy's rights, and thus did not reach the question of what evidence was derivative of the alleged violations.

Court: Well anyway, the Court has, I have heard all the testimony and taken notes on everything. This is an investigation of the hit and run and the OWI. And everything that the officer did was part the investigation from my observance of it. Especially up to the point when he got in the car it was clear he was not under arrest, he was free to go. He was not restrained. Then when he was told to come out of the house to talk to him, that's similar to saving, exit the vehicle I want to talk to you about what just happened. He certainly had reasonable suspicion to believe that Mr. Cundy had been involved in a hit and run, and an OWI at the time. He asked him to leave the house based on the license plate being identified and his behavior, which I have outlined already.

He was, like I said, he was not retained [sic]. There was nothing to indicate that he was in custody at that point in time. This is still an investigation. Then when they returned from the scene and the officer says I am still investigating, he clearly said that. And then Mr. Cundy said we're done here and nothing to my knowledge

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 13 of 32

was said after that point in time, other than the fact that, I think he asked him if he was doing field sobriety. He said there's no reason, then he put him under arrest. Obviously at that point he was in custody and that was that. So the motion is denied. Anything else?

Prosecutor: The motion both with regard to unlawful seizure and lack of *Miranda* warning, both of those –

Court: Correct.

Prosecutor: -- are being denied?

Court: Yes.

Prosecutor: All right, thank you. Just further scheduling.

Defense Counsel: I'm assuming the Court is also denying that we met the threshold with respect to the identification.

Court: Rights.

(R. 49:102-104; App. 3-6).

Cundy took the case to trial. Cundy's statements were introduced at trial (R. 181:167-173) as were Williams's identification of Cundy (R. 181:167), and the results of the blood draw. (R. 182:29). In addition, Williams identified Cundy at trial. (R. 181:100). The jury eventually found Cundy guilty on all three counts. (R. 182: 270-271). This appeal follows.

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 14 of 32

ARGUMENT

- I. Officer Wheeler seized Cundy at his home without a warrant and evidence derived from the illegal arrest must be suppressed.
 - A. Officer Wheeler improperly seized Cundy at his home without a warrant when Officer Wheeler responded "no" and kept asking Cundy questions after Cundy asked "are we done here?," or at the every least when he ordered Cundy to come with him to be identified by a witness.

The Fourth Amendment ensures that a person's home is their castle. For that reason, "[i]t is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable." *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980) (quotation marks and footnote omitted). Officer Wheeler seized Cundy, without a warrant, when he refused Cundy's request to end their interaction while Cundy was standing in his doorway. Alternatively, Officer Wheeler seized Cundy when he ordered Cundy to leave his house so that he could be identified by a witness.

While *Payton* involved a warrantless arrest inside a home, two lines of Supreme Court cases demonstrate that *Payton* also applies when an officer forces a person to submit to questioning while standing at the entryway of their home.

First, Fourth Amendment protections do not begin at a home's threshold. The Supreme Court "regard[s] the area immediately surrounding and associated with the home—what [its] cases call the

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 15 of 32

curtilage—as part of the home itself for Fourth Amendment purposes." Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 6 (2013) (cleaned up) (holding that warrantless dog sniff on defendant's porch was a Fourth Amendment "search" of the defendant's home). For instance, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that a warrantless arrest in a person's backyard violated Payton because the backyard was part of the home's curtilage. State v. Walker, 154 Wis. 2d 158, 184, 453 N.W.2d 127, 138 (1990), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Felix, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775.

Here, during the relevant interactions Cundy was standing in his entryway and Officer Wheeler was right outside. (R. 181:166). In other words, Cundy was in his home and Officer Wheeler was in the curtilage. Officer Wheeler thus required a warrant to seize Cundy.

Second, the Supreme Court has also explained that a person does not have to be formally arrested and placed in handcuffs to be "seized" under the Fourth Amendment. Instead, a person is seized if "the police conduct would have communicated to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the officers' requests or otherwise terminate the encounter." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 439 (1991). To be sure, officers are just as free as anyone else to "knock and talk" with the residents of a home. City of Sheboygan v. Cesar, 2010 WI App 170, ¶ 13, 330 Wis. 2d 760, 773, 796 N.W.2d 429, 436. However, "even if an occupant chooses to open the door and speak with the officers, the occupant need not allow the officers to enter the premises and may refuse to answer any questions at any time." Kentucky v. King,

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 16 of 32

563 U.S. 452, 470 (2011). That is, "no seizure occurs when police ask questions of an individual... so long as the officers do not convey a message that compliance with their requests is required." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 437.

Officer Wheeler certainly "conveyed a message that compliance with [his] requests" for Cundy to speak to him was "required." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 437. Officer Wheeler was at Cundy's home after 10 p.m., well after an uninvited guest might knock on a person's door. (R. 49:29). And Officer Wheeler knocked for several minutes before someone answered the door. (R. 49:49). The time at night, and Officer Wheeler's persistence, suggested that he would not go away.

Thus, with this context, when Cundy asked "Are we done here?," he was asking for permission to end the encounter. And when Officer Wheeler responded "No," Officer Wheeler was denying him that permission. Officer Wheeler "conveyed a message that" Cundy was required to comply with his request to answer his questions, and that Cundy could not just close the door and go back to sleep. Bostick, 501 U.S. at 437. That is, Officer Wheeler had then effectively "seized" Cundy for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment.

But even if he was not seized at that point, Cundy certainly was seized when Officer Wheeler ordered him out of his house. Officer Wheeler told Cundy "I'm gonna need you to step out here for me." (R. 42 at 27:38-28:33). This was not an invitation that Cundy was free to decline. Officer Wheeler "need[ed]" Cundy to step outside, *i.e.* it was necessary. A

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 17 of 32

reasonable person would not believe that they were "free to decline the officers' requests or otherwise terminate the encounter." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 439. A reasonable person would believe that there would be significant consequences, legal or otherwise, if the person instead just stepped back from the threshold and closed the door in the officer's face. Officer Wheeler's order was a seizure, by any measure.

B. Because Officer Wheeler lacked probable cause to arrest Cundy for a crime, evidence derived from the illegal arrest must be suppressed.

The exclusionary rule gives practical meaning to the Fourth Amendment by excluding from evidence information gained through the government's violation of the Fourth Amendment. In *New York v. Harris*, 495 U.S. 14, 21 (1990), the Supreme Court recognized an exception to the exclusionary rule when the violation is a warrantless arrest at a person's home.

[W]here the police have probable cause to arrest a suspect, the exclusionary rule does not bar the State's use of a statement made by the defendant outside of his home, even though the statement is taken after an arrest made in the home in violation of *Payton*.

Harris, 495 U.S. at 21. Thus, because police had probable cause to arrest Harris for murder, his statements made after his warrantless arrest were not barred under the exclusionary rule.

In State v. Felix, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 46, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 700, 811 N.W.2d 775, 790, the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied *Harris* to statements and physical evidence obtained after an illegal,

Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 18 of 32

warrantless arrest at the defendant's home. Because "police had probable cause to arrest Felix prior to going to Felix's home" – multiple witnesses told police that Felix had admitted stabbing the murder victim – the statements and physical evidence obtained after his warrantless arrest were not excluded. *Id*.

Officer Wheeler did not have probable cause to arrest Cundy prior to arriving at Cundy's home. "Police have probable cause to arrest if they have information which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." Felix, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 28 (quotation marks and citation omitted).

Williams at most observed a hit-and-run causing property damage to another car, which only results in a forfeiture. Wis. Stat. §§ 346.68 and 346.74(3). "Conduct punishable only by a forfeiture is not a crime." Wis. Stat. § 939.12. Indeed, Officer Wheeler admitted at the suppression hearing that the hit-and-run he was investigating was not a crime. (R. 49:55).

Nor did Officer Wheeler have probable cause to arrest Cundy for operating while intoxicated or with a prohibited blood alcohol content. The only bad driving Williams reported was Cundy striking a parked car while he backing into a parking spot, a fairly unremarkable accident that happens all the time when drivers are stone cold sober. Williams did not report any weaving or other erratic driving behavior suggesting the driver was impaired.

Cundy is not aware of any cases suggesting that a minor traffic accident creates probable cause to arrest a person for drunk driving. For instance, in Case 2022AP000540 Appellant Brief Filed 09-21-2022 Page 19 of 32

State v. Wille, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 684, 518 N.W.2d 325, 329 (Ct. App. 1994), the defendant struck a disabled vehicle on the shoulder of a highway, causing multiple injuries. First responders smelled alcohol, but could not determine that the source was Wille until he was taken to the hospital. Wille confided in one of the officers that "I have to quit doing this." The combination of the significant accident, the smell of alcohol coming from Wille, and his tacit admission of some sort of wrongdoing created probable cause to arrest Wille for a drunk driving arrest. *Id.* at 684.

The state may argue that Officer Wheeler developed probable cause in the few moments before the knock and talk turned into a seizure, as Officer Wheeler smelled alcohol on Cundy's breath. However, Officer Wheeler arrived at Cundy's house at least 35-40 minutes after the alleged hit-and-run. There was more than enough time for Cundy to drink multiple alcoholic beverages. This is not a case, like in *Wille*, where officers detected alcohol while the driver was still at the scene of the accident, and had no time to drink after the incident.

In sum, unlike in *Harris* and *Felix*, here the government did not have probable cause to arrest Cundy for a crime when Officer Wheeler seized Cundy at his home without a warrant.

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