Filed 12-20-2022

Page 1 of 33

FILED 12-20-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP540-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY L. CUNDY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. DE VRIES, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2065 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) odaykm@doj.state.wi.us

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

C. Wheeler had reasonable suspicion to temporarily detain Cundy, and the initial seizure was therefore constitutionally valid.

"Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21. While a "mere hunch" is insufficient to justify an investigatory stop, police officers are not required to dispel of innocent behavior before temporarily detaining a suspect. Id.

Whether an officer possessed reasonable suspicion is an objective inquiry: it asks, "What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience?" *State v. Genous*, 2021 WI 50, ¶ 8, 397 Wis. 2d 293, 961 N.W.2d 41 (citation omitted). To that end, courts do not view facts in isolation; rather, "[t]he building blocks of facts accumulate. And as they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn." *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996); *see also Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 12. Said differently, Wisconsin courts "consider everything observed by and known to the officer, and then determine whether a reasonable officer in that situation would reasonably suspect that criminal activity was afoot." *Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 10.

Here, a reasonable officer in Wheeler's position would have had reasonable suspicion that Cundy committed a traffic violation and had been driving under the influence.

First, looking only at the potential traffic violation of the hit and run, Wheeler had reasonable suspicion to temporarily detain Cundy and investigate that incident. See State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 11, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394, (officers may conduct Terry stops "based on a reasonable suspicion of a non-criminal traffic violation" (citing *State v. Griffin*, 183 Wis. 2d 327, 331–34, 515 N.W.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1994)).

Wheeler received information from Williams that he had watched a middle-aged man with salt and pepper hair back into a car and drive away. (R. 3:2-3.) Williams was able to get the license plate number of the car, and he relayed that to dispatch. (R. 3:2.) The vehicle came back as registered to Cundy. (R. 3:3.) Even before reaching Cundy's home, Wheeler had enough facts from which a reasonable officer could believe that Cundy had committed a traffic violation, which justified an investigatory detention. *Colstad*, 260 Wis. 2d 406, ¶ 11.

Wheeler's reasonable suspicion was only bolstered when Cundy evasively answered his questions. For example, rather than answer whether he had been driving on Allen Street, Cundy told Wheeler to describe Allen Street despite the street being downtown Mayville and visible from Cundy's house. Additionally, continually asked Wheeler to describe the incident despite Wheeler's clear prior descriptions. *See State v. Olson*, 2001 WI App 284, ¶ 8, 249 Wis. 2d 391, 639 N.W.2d 207 (noting that "nervous, evasive behavior is a pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion"). Taken as a cumulative whole, those facts supported Wheeler placing Cundy under a temporary detention to investigate the hitand-run.

Those same facts, i.e., the hit-and-run, the positive identification, the matching registration, and Cundy's evasive behavior at his house, coupled with the indicia of intoxication that Wheeler observed also provided Wheeler with reasonable suspicion that Cundy had been driving under the influence. Wheeler testified that Cundy had slurred speech, "a very strong odor of intoxicants . . . glossy eyes [and] was slightly off balance" while they talked at Cundy's door. (R. 180:30.) Cundy also told Wheeler that he had had "quite a few" drinks that night. (R. 180:34.) Any reasonable officer who was informed of a hit-and-run by a citizen witness, who had the registration of the driver, and who observed the owner of the car act evasively and avoid his questions while exhibiting signs of intoxication would have reasonable suspicion that the person had driven under the influence.

As seen, not only could Wheeler temporarily detain Cundy to investigate the hit-and-run, but Wheeler could also reasonably detain Cundy to investigate a possible OWI. Because Wheeler had reasonable suspicion to investigate the hit-and-run and the OWI, his seizure of Cundy was constitutionally reasonable, and the circuit court properly denied Cundy's motion to suppress.⁴

- II. Cundy was not "in custody" for purposes of the Fifth Amendment and no *Miranda* warnings were required.
 - A. Whether a suspect is in custody for purposes of *Miranda* is a two-step inquiry that examines the suspect's freedom of movement and any inherently coercive nature of the questioning.

"The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides" a "privilege against selfincrimination." *State v. Halverson*, 2021 WI 7, ¶ 13, 395 Wis. 2d 385, 953 N.W.2d 847. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S.

⁴ Further, even if this Court agrees that this was an arrest without probable cause, the facts here still counsel against exclusion. "[E]xclusion is warranted only where there is some present police misconduct, and where suppression will appreciably deter that type of misconduct in the future." *State v. Burch*, 2021 WI 68, ¶ 17, 398 Wis. 2d 1, 961 N.W2d 314 *cert. denied Burch v. Wisconsin*, 142 S. Ct. 811 (2022). After all, "[t]he 'sole purpose' of the exclusionary rule 'is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations." *Id.* (citation omitted). There is simply no evidence of misconduct from Wheeler (and no argument from Cundy suggesting misconduct) that would necessitate the deterrent effect of exclusion.

436 (1966), announced a "set of procedural safeguards, enforced by the remedy of exclusion, aimed at 'protecting'" that privilege. *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 13 (citation omitted).

Like an arrest triggering a probable cause determination under the Fourth Amendment, an individual being subjected to a "custodial interrogation" triggers the mandates of Miranda. Halverson, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 15. Custody, in the context of *Miranda*, is "a term of art that specifies circumstances that are thought generally to present a serious danger of coercion." Id. ¶ 16 (citation omitted). This is a two-step inquiry that first asks whether "in light of 'the objective circumstances of the interrogation,' a 'reasonable person [would] have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave." Id. ¶ 17 (alteration in original) (citations omitted).

Courts consider several factors in the "freedom-toleave" step, including "the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation and the degree of restraint." *State v. Morgan*, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 12, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23; *see also Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 17. Factors to be considered when assessing the degree of restraint include "whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." *Morgan*, 254 Wis. 2d 602, ¶ 12; *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶¶ 17, 30.

If the "freedom-to-leave" test is satisfied, courts move to the second step, which asks, "whether the relevant environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 17 (citation omitted). This too is based on the "specific" and "objective circumstances" of the questioning. *State v. Bartelt*, 2018 WI 16, ¶ 33, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684.

B. Cundy was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda*.

Cundy alleges that he was in *Miranda* custody when Wheeler ordered him out of the house and that he should have been given his *Miranda* warnings at that point. (Cundy's Br. 22–23.) Any statements taken after that moment, according to Cundy, must be suppressed. (Cundy's Br. 23.) Contrary to Cundy's argument, and for many of the same reasons that Cundy was not under arrest for purposes of the Fourth Amendment, he was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda* when Wheeler ordered him out of the house.

To be sure, the Fourth and Fifth Amendments protect different rights, and it is therefore possible for a suspect to be both not under arrest under the Fourth Amendment and in custody under the Fifth. *State v. Dobbs*, 2020 WI 64, ¶¶ 56–60, 392 Wis. 2d 505, 945 N.W.2d 609. However, based on the totality of the circumstances here, Cundy's "freedom of action [was not] curtailed to [the] degree associated with a formal arrest," and therefore he was not "entitled to the 'full panoply of protections prescribed by *Miranda*." *Id.* ¶ 59 (citation omitted).

1. The degree of restraint was not akin to a formal arrest.

First, the degree of restraint here was not sufficient to trigger *Miranda*'s protections. While Cundy was subjected to a temporary, investigative detention, that brief restraint on his liberty did not rise to the level of *Miranda* custody. *See Howes v. Fields*, 565 U.S. 499, 510 (2012) (citation omitted) ("[T]he 'temporary and relatively nonthreatening involved in a traffic stop or *Terry* stop does not constitute *Miranda* custody.""). As already noted, Cundy was not handcuffed, and Wheeler never drew his weapon. (R. 180:29–30.) See Halverson, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 30. Cundy was physically "restrained" only to the extent that he was seated in the back of Wheeler's squad car and had a seatbelt on. However, unlike Dobbs, where Dobbs was handcuffed and "questioned by Officer Milton in his parked, locked squad car form 7:31 a.m. until 8:52 a.m." (392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 62), no questioning occurred while Cundy was in the squad car, and Cundy was in the car for less than ten total minutes. (R. 42 31:12–37:45.)

Further, although Cundy was moved from one location to another, that subsequent location was not a police station, an interrogation room, a hospital room, or somewhere else that Cundy's questioning would be precluded from public view—instead, the questioning occurred in Cundy's doorway and in the street in front of his house. *Compare State v. Torkelson*, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 20, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511 (noting that Torkelson was not in custody in part because "[h]e was questioned by only one officer in an area open to the public) with Dobbs, 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 62 ("Unlike a brief traffic stop, the place of the interrogation did not expose Dobbs to public view and would have cause a reasonable person to feel completely at the mercy of police.").

Cundy, in arguing that "[t]ransporting a person to two locations by squad car is more akin to a formal arrest then [sic] a routine traffic stop" (Cundy Br. 24), neglects to acknowledge that Cundy was driven less than a mile from his house, not questioned in the car, and was in the squad car for roughly seven minutes. (R. 42 31:12–37:45.) In turn, Cundy ignores that his case is entirely unlike *Dobbs*, where "[i]n each of the locations [that] Dobbs was taken, he was either locked in, guarded by armed law enforcement, or both." 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 61.

Finally, the length of the questioning cuts against a finding of *Miranda* custody. Cundy was questioned for roughly four minutes at his door before they left for the scene

of the accident, not questioned at all in the car, and questioned for roughly five minutes when they arrived back at his house before he was arrested. (R. 42:25:50–29:15, 37:55-42:30.) The aggregate time of his questioning is "far afield" from cases where *Miranda* has been triggered. *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 32; *see also Dobbs*, 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 63 ("Ultimately, Dobbs was not read the *Miranda* warnings until almost *three hours* after he was first handcuffed and put in the backseat of a locked squad car."); *but see Howes*, 565 U.S. at 507 (nearly seven-hour interrogation did not result in custody for purposes of *Miranda*).

At bottom, Cundy was not in custody under the totality of the circumstances here. Because he was not in custody, Wheeler did not need to read him his *Miranda* rights, and no statements should be suppressed. This Court should therefore affirm.

2. Cundy was not subjected to the inherently coercive pressures of a station house interrogation.

Even if Cundy was subjected to a degree of restraint akin to a formal arrest, that does not end the inquiry. Again, a *Miranda* custody analysis proceeds in two steps, and "[t]he freedom-of-movement test identifies only a necessary and not a sufficient condition for *Miranda* custody." *Halverson*, 395 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 17 (citation omitted). Even if his freedom of movement was restricted, Cundy still needed to be subjected to an "environment [that] presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." *Id*. As explained below, he was not subjected to that inherently coercive environment, and his *Miranda* argument fails on the second step of the test as well. Here, the questioning began in the doorway of Cundy's home—not at a police station or anything equivalent. Wheeler maintained a calm demeanor while questioning Cundy, and, despite the presence of two officers, until Wheeler and Cundy returned from the scene of the hit-and-run, it was only Wheeler doing the questioning. In the one spot where the questioning of Cundy could have been more coercive than the street, i.e., Wheeler's squad car, there were no questions asked and no statements given. All questioning paused while they drove and waited for Williams, and it did not resume until Wheeler and Cundy returned to Cundy's home.

There was simply nothing here that resembled the traditionally inherent pressures of stationhouse questioning, and Cundy's *Miranda* custody argument therefore fails the second step of the test as well.

In sum, the brief, temporary detention that occurred here did not trigger *Miranda*. Because Cundy was not in *Miranda* custody at any point until his formal arrest, there are no statements from before that point that should be suppressed, and this Court should affirm.

C. Even if Cundy was subjected to a custodial interrogation, any error in admitting un-Mirandized statements was harmless.

"Incriminating statements made in violation of *Miranda* must be suppressed, unless the admission of the statements was harmless error." *Dobbs*, 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 52 (citation omitted). An error is harmless if "it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *Id.* ¶ 68 (citation omitted).

Here, any error in admitting Cundy's non-*Mirandized* statements was harmless. For one, it is only incriminating statements that must be suppressed if there is a violation of

Miranda. Id. ¶ 52. But Cundy does not identify what of his statements, if any, were incriminating. Importantly, Cundy never admitted to driving, hitting the other car, or driving under the influence. Accordingly, it is unclear what else Cundy said to Wheeler that he believes impermissibly contributed to the verdict. The inquiry can therefore stop there because absent incriminating statements there is no need to reverse for suppression.

Further, any potentially incriminating statements that Cundy made after the point that he believes he should have received the Miranda warnings merely duplicated statements he made before Cundy alleges he was in custody. State v. Harris, 2008 WI 15, ¶ 45, 307 Wis. 2d 555, 745 N.W.2d 397 (one factor in the harmless error analysis is "whether the erroneously admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence"). For example, to the extent Cundy's statements that he wasn't driving and had been home for more than a half an hour could be construed as incriminating, he maintained that he hadn't been driving before Wheeler asked him to come out of the house. (See, e.g., R. 42:28:09-28:13.) Similarly, Cundy mentioning that he had "guite a few" drinks and was at Sidelines merely replicated the statement he made prior to being asked to come out of his house that he had quite a few drinks. (R. 42:28:13–18.)

Cundy was not in custody for the purposes of *Miranda*. But even assuming he was, there were no identifiably incriminating statements introduced and Cundy's statements, writ large, duplicated statements he had made prior to the alleged custody point. Therefore, any error in admitting those statements was harmless. III. The show up identification of Cundy by Williams was not unduly suggestive.

A. Defendants bear the burden to demonstrate that an out-of-court identification was unnecessarily suggestive.

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